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the traditional and the modern. It is emblematic for the mid century modernist search for the
Core, a new interpretation of the classic Agora combining spontaneous and organised communal
and individual life. Market and meeting place all in one. Here Tavora has masterly done more

with less. He uses the structural concrete roof-supporting elements together with the different
heights of the site to define space and to create a civic sense of what Aldo van Eyck called
“homecoming”. This place is one of these timeless architectural experiences that stick in your
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Preface

Hubert-Jan Henket
Architect and hon. President of Docomomo International

An icon of the ordinary

The town of Santa Maria da Feira, some 40 km south
of Porto, is blessed with some interesting architectural
relics. Its layered history is well demonstrated by such
jewels as the Castro de Romariz of the 1st century AD,
the 11th century Castle, the 16th century Convento dos
Loios and a true 1950’s icon of Modernity the Mercado
Municipal.

This simple market, designed by the architect Fernando
Téavora, is an elegant interaction of the traditional and the
modern. It is emblematic for the mid century modernist
search for the Core, a new interpretation of the classic
Agora combining spontaneous and organised communal
and individual life. Market and meeting place all in
one. Here Tavora has masterly done more with less. He
uses the structural concrete roof-supporting elements
together with the different heights of the site to define
space and to create a civic sense of what Aldo van Eyck
called “homecoming”. This place is one of these timeless
architectural experiences that stick in your memory.

For various reasons it is crucial for this complex to be
revitalised. As a real representative of every day civic life it
belongs the icons of the 20™ century Modern Movement.



It is an emblematic expression of the humanist goal of
civic eminence. Besides it is crucial for the continuation
of the historic layers that form the specific character
of Santa Maria da Feira. And last but not least the
revitalisation of the market offers a welcome opportunity
in a globalising world to present local produce for local
consumption in a civilised and sustainable way.

One can only sincerely hope that this inspiring study
by the students and staff of the School of Architecture of
Minho University will stimulate the Municipality of Santa
Maria da Feira to safeguard and revitalise this human
gem of modernity for future generations to use, enjoy and
love.

12 January 2018
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Fig. 0 The School of Architecture
of the University of Minho,
building designed (1996-2002)
by Fernando Tévora and José
Bernardo Tévora (photo by Inés
d’Orey).

Introduction

Twentieth century built heritage conservation, and adap-
tive reuse in particular, is becoming more and more a
significant theme, both quality and quantity wise. It is
an emerging area of work which requires specialist train-
ing and knowledge to deal with its multidisciplinary and
interdisciplinary nature. It also requires the development
of a critical approach to the analysis and design of the
intervention, informed by shared international principles
and the specific nature and context of the building to be
conserved.

At the School of Architecture of University of Minho
(EAUM), we offer an integrated Master Degree course
in Architecture, which is broadly oriented, rather than
specialised in specific areas. In the 4th and 5th year of the
course, students can decide on their own path within a
variety of different Design Studio projects, widely ranging
in scale and type of intervention. Among those in the first
semester of the bth year, an exercise on conservation
design has been proposed, consisting of the refurbishment
of an ancient, yet not listed, building. In 2015,
| came to advocate a program based on the refurbishment
of a listed modern building, that is to say, | challenged
the 5th year students to design the functional adaptation
and constructive repair of the Municipal Market of Santa



Maria da Feira, designed and built (1954-59) by Fernando
Tavora.

The group of students included; Ana Raquel Faria
Rocha, Ana Luisa Guimardaes Sacramento, André
Manuel Silva Ferreira Ribeiro, Daniel Filipe da Costa
Goncgalves, Daniel Santos Costa, Diana Patricia Mendes
Ferreira, Duarte Nuno Rodrigues Marques, Fernando
Jorge Pereira Veiga Junior, Jodo Antdénio Carvalho
Ferreira, Jodo Manuel Ferreira de Aradjo, Joao Pedro
Guimaraes Lopes da Costa, Juliana Filipa Pereira
Bento, Liliana Sofia Antunes da Silva Mota, Luis Maciel
Goncalves Rodrigues, Maria del Carmen Bueno Garcia,
Maria Joao Santos Novais, Marco Antonio da Silva
Vieira, Mauricio Valentino da Silva Ferreira Borges,
Paula Trigos Garcia, Ricardo Nuno Meireles de Sousa
and Rasha Askar.

That selected case study envisages all requirements
for defining an explanatory approach towards the elabo-
ration of a heritage and design proposal, both as regards
the relevance of the building within twentieth century
Portuguese architecture, and the complexity of the prob-
lems in dealing with bringing it back into use.

In very few words, it is a building which fully displays
Fernando Tavora's recognised mastery in integrating
local and traditional values within modern materials
vocabulary. It means this is a piece of architecture which
is in itself the demonstration of what continuity between
building tradition and new architecture could be. Hence,
one more reason to elect it as a case study on how to
design for architectural conservation. This once very
lively structure, lays almost abandoned. Because of
changes in commerce organisation, and today’s legal-
hygienic requirements, it could not survive economic
competition. With the loss of the Market's practical
function, its remarkable value as social meeting point has
suffered extremely.

During the first stage of our Studio, students were giv-
en the full archive documentation of the original design
dossier and were asked to study and survey the Market

building compound, so as to produce detailed analysis
and drawings of alterations and deterioration problems of
its four pavilions and the base platform they are placed
upon. In this first stage, the whole group of 20 students
was divided according to different tasks as to produce a
global result. In a second stage, they were asked to im-
agine and set out a strategy, which could lead the Market
to a new life. Students worked in smaller groups in order
to propose alternative strategies. In a third stage, the work
was individual and it consisted of translating the previous-
ly outlined functional reorganisation strategy into the spa-
tial organisation of the building. Finally, in a fourth stage,
each student had to deal with the repair or improvement
of a construction ‘question’ or detail to be chosen in con-
tinuity with the whole refit work. Although this counted
as individual development, it was coordinated among all
the students as to reach a good coverage of all technical
questions inherent to the building.

At the beginning of the semester, architect José
Bernardo Tavora, Fernando Tévora's son, and who also
worked in partnership with his father, met with the students
in order to bring them his directly withessed knowledge
about the Market. At the same time, we also got the
fundamental contribution, as to a better understanding
of this masterpiece of Portuguese Modern architecture, of
Carlos Machado (Professor at the Faculty of Architecture
of the University of Porto), who, as guest lecturer, spelled
out all of its strong features. Likewise, Isabel Valente, our
teaching team’s construction tutor, dealt specifically with
diagnostic techniques for historic concrete and conducted
a variety of non-destructive testing in situ. In the given
perspective, efforts were oriented to the understanding
of the parameters influencing deterioration processes
related to design and environmental factors. Luis Gil
Pita, who is also a former EAUM teacher, was invited to
lecture and share with us his professional experience on
architectural conservation, more precisely in regard to the
methodology he set up in a recent repair and maintenance
plan designed for the Galician Contemporary Art Centre



museum in Santiago de Compostela, built by Siza Vieira,
in 1992.

Apart from the symbolic importance of the selected
case study and the promising interest of the students’
works, our experience, in terms of a didactic trial, came
to confirm that the conservation of twentieth century
modern buildings involves significant technical and con-
structional skillsets, it requires capability and practical
knowledge of design strategies supported by appropriate
critical tools, i.e. it is absolutely a beneficial option in ar-
chitectural teaching.

The current publication is aimed to register inherent
information and thoughts gathered along the way and,
therefore, it is organised according to the above men-
tioned methodological steps.

Carlos Machado, José Bernardo Tavora, Isabel Va-
lente, and (in Appendix) José Luis Gil Pita have been
asked to safekeep their contributions in a written essay
format. Furthermore, it includes the English translation
of a 1987 text by Alvaro Siza, where a precious insight
about Fernando Tévora’s work is offered.

Firstly, there is “The case study survey”, which doc-
uments the current state of the building. A propos, the
relevant amount of time spent during inspection and
measuring, along with redrawing, has been the perfect
opportunity for us to linger in the building and steadily
experience its spaces and materiality.

At that point, and according to the pragmatic approach
adopted in the Studio, the main strategy is presented, as
well as design and construction issues students had to
deal with in order to bring the Market’s building complex
back into use. This might be the right moment to say that
our work has been kind of an exploratory research aimed
to recognise problems, outline operational measures and
organise a design agenda as final result, i.e. even though
our exercise has been a reality one, none of the global and
detailed proposed solutions was intended to be a final one,
rather a partial piece of a set of interlocked hypothesis.
Some themes have been accordingly highlighted in the

section entitled “The Framework of the design hypothesis”,
which precedes the “Gallery of students’ selected works”.

As a further result of the described attempt to go
through a pragmatic attitude towards conservation, which
combines the imaginative aspects of designing practice
and in-depth research required to fully understand the
building and its context, there are finally some “Notes
about Teaching Architectural Design for the Conservation
of the Modern Built Heritage”.

Vincenzo Riso
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Fernando Tavora

Alvaro Siza

Fernando Luis Cardoso Meneses de Tavares e Tavora, the
son of José Ferrdo de Tavares e Tavora and Maria José de
Lobo Sousa Machado Cardoso de Meneses, was born in
Porto on 25" August, 1923. He graduated in Architecture
from the School of Fine Arts in Porto (1942-1947) and
got his diploma in 1950.

He joins the teaching team of that same School in
1951, as a volunteer, and he is hired as a 2nd assistant
in 1958. In 1962, he applies for a position as a 1%t Group
teacher having obtained a brilliant grade.

After having worked as a 1 assistant, he is offered a
position as an Associate Professor in 1974, having been
nominated Full Professor in 1976. He, then, occupies differ-
ent positions in the first Section of the Porto Higher Institute
of Fine Arts; he is currently President of the Transitory Board
of the Faculty of Architecture of the University of Porto and
Associate Professor at the same School.

He is an architect and author of several essays concern-
ing his field of expertise.

He took part in the Inquiry on Portuguese Regional Ar-
chitecture, promoted by the National Union of Architects.

He has participated in International Congresses of Archi-
tecture and Urbanism and was a member of CIAM (Porto).

He has been awarded the first prize for Architecture

Published in Arquitectura,
Pintura, Escultura, Desenho.
Patriménio da Escola Superior
de Belas Artes do Porto e da
Faculdade de Arquitectura

da Universidade do Porto by
Universidade do Porto, January
1987. An exhibition organised
by FAUP with the cooperation
of the Portuguese Association
of Architects, included in

the celebrations of the 75th
Anniversary of the University of
Porto; pp. 184-187; and also in
Desenho de Arquitectura, same
event, pp. 104-107.
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by Fundagdo Calouste Gulbenkian/Calouste Gulbenkian
Foundation and he has also been granted a scholarship by
the same Foundation in the United States and Japan. He
is a correspondent of the National Academy of Fine Arts.

In a first glimpse, the work of Fernando Tavora exudes
tranquillity. There is no drama whatsoever. The fascina-
tion it exerts seems strange, or maybe it is the Author’s
personality.

Culturally speaking, and within the scope of his profes-
sion, Fernando Tavora is a man of CIAM'’s last generation,
who completed his education with a deep admiration for
an assured Le Corbusier, immediately sensitive to a Le
Corbusier of disconcerting changes which rehabilitate the
contradictions present in a pre-school or external training.

Regarding the last CIAM, he follows the line of thought
of Coderch’s Catalonian houses, and not Candilis and the
new cities; the rebellious Van Eych and the new lItalians,
and not Bakema and his triumphant reconstruction.

It does not come as a surprise, then, that the identi-
fication with this new and eclectic CIAM lasts less than
this did; that the connection to opposite fields of personal
training covers the work'’s evolution and finds a solution in
itself; that the staggering influence of Alvar Aalto all over
Europe passes him by.

The evidence of how important Fernando Tavora is as
an educator and catalyst of renovation trends, at School
Carlos Ramos and its consolidation and evolution, has
somewhat postponed the attention given to the Archi-
tect, who has been respectfully kept on the shelves of
the undisputable references concerning the description
and understanding of the treaded paths of the Portuguese
Contemporary Architecture.

After a closer look, the work of Fernando Tavora seems
open and immersed in subversion, in a country which has
stagnated or is stifled under so much anxiety. Subversion,
reflection, continuity, in a counterpoint between projects
“in a state of happiness” and suspended decompositions.
It is in light of this context that one might understand the
complex coherence underlying successive projects and

constructions and also the most diversified activities —
from collector to educator.

The Summer House at Ofir “appears” in 1956. It is
nothing but another chimney amongst the illuminating,
essential constructions along Minho's shoreline; due to
that natural quality, it causes a real stir in renovation; not
many people, at the time, are aware that he uses a mod-
ern and Nordic kind of spatial structure.

It comes after the first “European” projects (Ramalde,
Campo Alegre, Housing Block at Foz) and his participa-
tion in the Inquiry on the Portuguese Regional Architec-
ture, preceded by the publication of his essay O Problema
da Casa Portuguesa, a brief text which already foreshad-
ows many of the themes for the following years.

After the approach to the “in state of grace” shoreline
vernacular comes the Tennis Pavilion in Quinta da Con-
ceicao, destruction and rebuilt of elements and types of
Traditional Architecture, within a convergence between
distant vocations of Form.

The coherent and finished language “typical of Porto”
of School of Cedro (1958), which seems to institutionalise
the paths towards the Summer House at Ofir, goes along
with the singular architecture of Market of Vila da Feira
(1954), where the analysis and intuition about the use of
space translate into an acute sensitivity to what is trans-
formed — or is about to transform — and to a continuity
that escapes the description; hence building the Form.

The Block at Pereira Reis (1958) brings back to archi-
tecture the limits of surface and the definition of space
and being part of a higher structure; meanwhile, the Mu-
nicipal Building at Aveiro (1964) frees itself as it becomes
an architectonic object.

More recently, while renovating his family house, in
Guimaraes, the author’s hand almost subtracts itself from
the exemplary refurbishment; whereas during the long
process of restoration of the Santa Marinha Inn a thor-
ough archaeological study lies behind that natural quality
and heresy of the “new architecture”, which surpasses the
condition of added element, and ascends to being part of

13
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the History of a powerful structure in slow and continuous
transformation.

It is not possible, in such a short text, to consider the
richness and complexity of the work of Fernando Tavora;
a work that invades — discretely? — the Portuguese culture.

There is no longer tranquillity. Behind a mask of dis-
tance, convulse — in first hand - the most significant
themes of our transformation.

15
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Municipal Market of Vila da Feira (1953-59)

Fernando Tavora. The work of a lifetime

José Bernardo Tavora

The Municipal Market of Vila da Feira is Fernando Tavora’s
work of a lifetime.

The project started when he was 30 years old and had
the collaboration of Fernando Lanhas, Alvaro Siza and
Alberto Neves. It is a work of truly impressive dedication,
commitment, passion and strength.

Fernando Tavora summarises all his body of work so far
through this project. It is this same project which clearly
helps him define his future, and let us not forget its inspir-
ing presentation at CIAM’ 59, in Otterlo, The Netherlands.

The lightness and diversity displayed in the unity of
four spaces with different functions and volumes around
a central yard, the nerve of the structure taken to the limit,
the clear mastery of all the proportions and scales and the
relationship between the platforms, and the spaces, and
the street, and its openness over the existing landscape
and the top of the Castle, are even more beautiful today.

At last, the clear and balanced choice of the finishing
materials and the design of detail. And colour’s importance.

The readings, the writing, the reflections, the travels,
the collections, History, become more solid in this period
of his life and culminate in his participation in the Inquéri-
to a Arquitectura Popular em Portugal (Survey on Popular
Architecture in Portugal), published in 1961.

17
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And then there is drawing. Always drawing.

Regardless of how abandoned it has been, and how
much it is now, 60 years later the building is as good as
new.

It is only in need of some maintenance, and to ad-
just here and there to newer and different legislation.
And some imagination to deal with so many functions
and activities which seem to occupy and reoccupy these
magical places around the country and the world.

Good architecture is also, and mainly, the kind that
stands the test of time and trends.

Such is the case of the Municipal Market of Vila da Feira.

Porto, August 2017
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Municipal Market of Santa Maria da Feira,

Fernando Tavora (1953-1959)

Carlos Machado

1

The works of Fernando Tavora in the 1950s represent one
of those rare and happy moments in which theory and
practice, while being necessarily and consciously incom-
plete or insufficient, communicate with each other, consti-
tuting a united, open and multifaceted block.

The project of the Market of Vila da Feira comes about
as part of a sequence of texts and works which, through
remarkable persistence and coherence, try to define or es-
tablish the boundaries for a set of issues involved in an
attempt to form a point of view on architecture. It is the spe-
cific circumstance of each project that allows us to grasp
that local dimension, which is always manifested in the
universal culture as a result of the intersection of geography
and history.

Even though the works are deeply rooted in person-
al experience (the autobiographical dimension is pres-
ent both in many texts and interviews given by Tavora
and in the gathered and organised materials shown at
Centro Cultural de Belém, in 1993), they only become
relevant when, starting from this nucleus where imagi-
nation “is formed and grows”, they establish a connec-
tion of reciprocity with the world others can relate to.

23
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Fig. 1 Fernando Téavora,
Municipal Market of Vila da Feira
(1953-59) seen from the Castle
© FIMS.

Fig. 2 Fernando Tavora,
Municipal Market of Vila da Feira
(1953-59) seen from the street
(photo taken by the author).

The market of Vila da Feira must be perceived follow-
ing a fundamental text, O problema da Casa Portuguesa
(1945/47), the first “modern” works - Plano da Zona Res-
idencial do Campo Alegre (Plan of the residential area of
Campo Alegre) (1949), the project of “Casa sobre o mar
(House over the sea) in Foz do Douro (1952), the commu-
nity/social housing block in Avenida Brasil (1952-54), the
residential unit in Ramalde (1952-60) - small sporadic
interventions such as the text “Resposta a um Inquérito:
que pensa do Desenvolvimento Actual da Nossa Arqui-
tectura?/Answering a survey: what do you think about our
current architecture?” published in 1953, in the magazine
Arquitectura Portuguesa de Ceramica e Edificagdo no.
3/4, along with “Casa sobre o mar/House over the sea”;
sequence extended to Quinta da Conceicédo (1956-60),
Casa de férias em Ofir (Summer house in Ofir) (1957-58),
Escola do Cedro (School of Cedro) (1957-61), the organ-
isation and field work (started in 1955) which resulted in
the publication of A Arquitectura Popular em Portugal/
Popular Arquitetcure in Portugal (1961) and the book-
let Da Organizacao do Espago/About Organising Space
(1962).

We wish to point out the specific intimate interconnec-
tion between theoretical thought and putting the actual
project into practice, which has revealed to be particularly
dense because it corresponds to a moment of clarification
and affirmation of a set of principles that shall guide his
whole body of work; we do not wish to point out the
different phases (“rationalist”, “organicist”, etc.), rather
the coherence of the guiding thread between them, as
consecutive moments for deepening a thought which is
only totally revealed by the end of its path. In this regard,
we can talk about the open relationship - and to some
extent an unpredictable one - between research and dis-
cover - which, according to Ernesto Rogers, constitutes a
synchronic duality, while resulting from a dialectic mo-
ment of a well thought architecture.

“Research and discover are not subsequent stages of
the creative process, because you try for what you want

25
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CoRTE A

Fig. 3 Fernando Téavora,
Municipal Market of Vila da Feira
(1953-59); plans and sections
© FIMS.

Fig. 4 Fernando Tavora,
Municipal Market of Vila da Feira
(1953-59); overall plan © FIMS.

CORTE B

to find and you find something amended from what was
believed to search.

Research and discover are a couple, a system of two
forces applied to an object that is influenced and is deter-
mined as a result.”

In this sense, the Market of Vila da Feira interests us
not so much as a possible practical demonstration of a
theoretical postulate (the so called ‘third way’ for instance,
i.e. an alternative to functional rationalism and to retro-
gressive traditionalism) but as a piece of work that results
from crossing thinking and doing. In this particular case,
theory does not come before the work (such as a program
previously thought as a “guide” to solve problems), it does
not come after the work (as a summary of a set of experi-
ences you intend to explain or justify), it rather runs along
with it; itis, partially, inside the work itself, in accordance
with the terms the problem is stated, the relationships es-
tablished and consolidated as a simultaneously practical
and theoretical response (something probably bound to
happen with all good architectural pieces). That is, the
work tends to merge the double dimension always pres-
ent while thinking about architecture as a project into the
materiality of the building, into a single object.

2
The Market of Vila da Feira is placed in a 50m x 50m
plot, next to a street that leads downtown, at the bot-
tom of the castle, precisely where the monthly market
takes place. It encompasses four pavilions, arranged or-
thogonally, shaping a centred space, rearranged into two
platforms connected by two stairs. Regarding the lower
platform, the centre of the building includes a fountain
and an orthogonal surrounding bench (the octagon is not
regular, it results from a square with chamfered corners).
The east-side pavilion, facing the street, has got two
floors, an open one on the upper platform, and another
one on the lower platform. The north and west-side pavil-
jons are located on the upper platform and the south-side
pavilion on the lower one. The whole compound is or-

27
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Fig. 5 Fernando Tavora,
Municipal Market of Vila da Feira
(1953-59); main entrance (photo
taken by the author).

Fig. 6 Fernando Téavora,
Municipal Market of Vila da Feira
(1953-59); view from the inside
to the main entrance (photo taken
by the author).

Fig. 7 Fernando Téavora,
Municipal Market of Vila da Feira
(1953-59); service entrance
(photo taken by the author).

Fig. 8 Fernando Téavora,
Municipal Market of Vila da Feira
(1953-59); view from the inside
to the service entrance (photo
taken by the author).
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ganised according to a square module of 1m X 1m which
“commands the composition and introduces it its own
geometry.”

The upper platform, adjoining the street, leads to a ter-
race on a stone base where you can find the recessed east-
ern-side pavilion, which includes a small shopping gallery
in the upper floor. A single flight of stairs included in the
stone base allows us to access the terrace from the out-
side. You can find the entrances at both ends of the base.
The main entrance, on higher ground, in the north side,
is located between the eastern and north-side pavilions
and leads us directly inside the compound. The service
entrance, on lower ground, in the south side, is tangent
to the eastern and south-side pavilions from the outside;
the central space can be accessed through a “syphoned”
passageway; support services (garage, freezers, veterinari-
an and inspection offices) are gathered at the top of these
pavilions, next to the service entrance.

Both stairs inside the compound have the same width
and follow a north-south direction: one of them is at the
main courtyard, aligned with the fountain and next to the
main entrance; the other one, at the south top of the upper
platform, is aligned with the western-side pavilion. Under-
neath this pavilion, and within the base boundaries, there
are the public toilets and the poultry slaughterhouse. The
octagonal bench surrounding the fountain is tiled and has
got two breaks, facing both east and west, and defines
a perpendicular axis in direction of the stairs. There is a
green, 2 meters wide strip, around the three inner sides of
the compound, which introduces vegetation as treatment
of the plot’s inner perimeter.

The four pavilions follow the same structural principle:
a succession of spans with a single base support and two
cantilever beams placed in a lined sequence. The distance
between the pillars - 4 meters between the axes - origi-
nates a second modulation, multiple to the first one.

This structure bears an overhanging pitched roof, slight-
ly sloped inwards as to collect rain water through a single
main gutter aligned with the pillars and which is visible at

the intradoses. Both sides of the roof are finished off with
longitudinal ledges, perpendicular to the slab; the top of the
cantilever beams emerge from the finishing ledges, thus
transporting the structure’s rhythm and modulation outside
the pavilions. The pillars, the beams, the top slabs and
the ledges are made of reinforced concrete. This structural
principle, even though hereby enunciated in a general way,
adjusts to the specific status of each pavilion according
to the program’s distribution and its position in the com-
pound.

Regarding the eastern-side pavilion, the upper floor,
facing the street, is divided into six spaces on the terrace
adjoining the street, and the lower one is occupied by six
butcher stalls open to the lower platform of the compound.
This layout allows the shopping gallery to function autono-
mously. The last span, at the south end, designated for the
previously mentioned services (veterinarian and inspection
offices), is open laterally, southwards, providing the facade
(facing the street) with a blank wall where you can see the
city’s coat of arms. The roof is asymmetrical, the longest
of its sides having been built eastwards as to cover the
shopping gallery. The south-side pavilion, at the lower plat-
form, has got six structural spans and a symmetrical roof.
The enclosed area (garage and freezers) is “inserted” in
two structural modules. Pillars and concrete beams slightly
protrude in order to keep the structure present.

The pavilions on the upper platform, which include five
structural spans, are fully open and designated for selling
flowers, fruit and vegetables. The western-side pavilion,
similarly to the south-side one, has kept a pitched roof.
The north-side pavilion, perpendicular to the street, has
been adjusted as to serve only one of the sides; the roof’s
projection towards north is small and has got no ledge, a
much-needed reminiscence when wanting to keep a single
line of pillars coincident with the gutter line. The pillars’
section and the roof’s projection southwards are kind of
scarce, even though the structural module has been kept.
As consequence of the roof’s cantilever reduction, this pa-
vilion is not as high as the others.
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The open spaces under the south and western-side pa-
vilions have been equipped with paired up benches, on
both sides of the pillars, covered in black slate and support-
ed by small parallelepiped supports, plastered and painted
in blue; the first pair of benches in the western-side pa-
vilion has a 90 degrees rotation and was made short as
to longitudinally occupy the span between the two pillars
- thus addressing the problem of having a set of paired
benches to occupy an odd number of spans (by freeing
the corner, the rotation also makes the passage from the
north-side pavilion to the western one easier). In the south-
side pavilion, the two benches in the area designated for
selling fish are higher and steeper. In the south and west-
ern-side pavilions, there is a set of cylindrical washbasins
made of white marble, paired in alternate spans between
the benches and under the concrete beams that support
the roof (there is only one basin in the pair of longitudinal
benches in the western-side pavilion). In the north-side pa-
vilion, designated for selling flowers and fruit, the vertical
supports are doubled in order to accommodate two uneven
benches.

The ‘parquet’ layout of the pavilions - each side of the
compound’s perimeter is occupied by the top part of a pa-
vilion and the front side of the next one - and their pro-
gressive ‘dematerialisation’, along with the decrease in the
number of spans - from the East-side pavilion, with two
floors and fully enclosed, to the north-side pavilion, next to
the upper level entrance, fully open, with a small number of
pillars and a shortened roof - originate a ‘spiral’ movement
that serves as counterpoint to the square’s stability as de-
fined by the compound and also used in the organisation
of the inner yard and bench around the fountain? (the inner
courtyard is not exactly square and the fountain is slightly
pushed south as to increase the space which precedes the
stairs). By ‘stability’ we mean, and regardless of all the pro-
gramming or configuration of the compound, the response
to the need of a ‘centre’ in space organisation, which was
one of the topics under discussion at the 8th CIAM in Hod-
desdon (1951), in which Tavora participated.

“The topic was the core, seen as the heart, the centre.
Not just referring to the urban centre, but specifically the
need for a centre at any level of organisation in Architec-
ture and Urbanism. For instance, the centre of a city or
the centre of a house. Hence a quite comprehensive, ar-
chitectonic, urbanistic and human vision about the need
of the core as an element of spontaneous or organised,
individual or collective life.”

The compound presents itself as a simultaneously
stable and dynamic space, organised around a central
courtyard, made uniform by a few repeated elements
(horizontal ledges, the rhythm of the pillars reinforced
by the beams’ top, the flooring’s modulation, etc.), and
diverse, because it consists of two floors and fits each
pavilion to its location and program. The compound’s pe-
rimeter has been drawn by adjusting the rapport between
adjoining pavilions according to the most fitted distance
and alignment to each side — either by pulling back the
north-side pavilion as to organise a wider entrance on a
higher ground, which simultaneously allows direct access
to the compound and the terrace adjoining the street, or,
just the opposite, by bringing the two pavilions closer on
a lower ground as to organise the previously mentioned
syphoned entrance.

The placement of a few elements in adjoining pavilions
- support services in the eastern and south-side pavilions,
the washbasins in the south and western-side pavilions
(at different levels) - and the rotation of the last, smaller,
pair of benches, in the western-side pavilion (at the end
adjacent to the north-side pavilion), establish continuities
that highlight the spiral movement mentioned before.
They are also responsible for connecting and articulating
both platforms, clearly differentiated by the presence of
retaining walls.

Finishings introduce a somewhat “hierarchical” dis-
tinction. The structural elements - the pavilions’ pillars
and beams, and the retaining walls - are left ‘rough’,
without cladding (the first ones made of bush-hammered
concrete, the second ones in dry joint granite stonework),

33



34

Fig. 9 Fernando Tavora,
Municipal Market of Vila da Feira
(1953-59); view from the inside
to the western-side pavilion
(photo taken by the author).
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while the inner surface of the roofs and the horizontal
ledges are plastered and painted. All the exterior clad-
dings, which are somehow exceptional according to the
adopted overall principle, are tiled, except for the top of
the east-side pavilion, in granite stonework, where the pil-
lars and concrete beams are built-in®.

We stand before, not only a clear distinction of the
structural elements, but also an ongoing dematerialisa-
tion’ (vertically speaking) of the various components that
end at the overhanging ledges which, painted in white,
underline the horizontal nature of the pavilions and their
disposition around the fountain, simultaneously designing
the inner profile of the compound at its higher ground.

The whole market has got small slabs of granolithic
concrete flooring, with 1m x 1m (which corresponds to
the base-module), except for the peripheral green strip
mentioned before, small spaces reserved for planting
shrubs or flowers, the western-side service entrance
made of cobblestone, and the in-between pillars flooring
underneath the roofing, where the marble washbasins
are placed; the green strip by the north-side entrance,
on a higher ground, gets wider as to organise the access
to the first pavilion; some of the areas with vegetation
frame the outside stairs, mark pathways and alignments;
the transition from the cobblestone flooring to a modulat-
ed flagstone flooring, at the end of the service entrance
ramp, announces the diagonal vision of the courtyard.
Next to each pavilion there is an opaque glass mosaic
panel which occupies one of the square modules of the
flooring and which “(...), considering its theme, evokes
the products being sold at the Market.”®

The inner side of the roofing painted in an orange tone
introduces a subtle interiorization of the open spaces,
bathed by the warm light reflected by the plastered sur-
face. Serving as a counterpoint to the structural elements,
which were left ‘rough’, the overhanging flagstones and
longitudinal ledges strike out as closing/finishing and pro-
tecting elements (just like the translucid canopies seen at
many markets). The white marble washbasins, the cov-

ering of the benches with black slate, the small supports
painted blue, and so forth, individualise the designed ele-
ments.” In this sense, we can talk about a way of design-
ing based on the individualisation of the various elements
of the project, which in this case is particularly relevant
because it comprises everything, from the organisation of
the pavilions, the individualisation of the structural ele-
ments, to the way the previously mentioned secondary el-
ements (washbasins, benches supports, etc.) are treated.

Such a procedure shows us the so called analytical
decomposability which Carlos Marti considers to be one
of the most relevant features of the Modern Movement
architecture, for allowing the re-composition of the form
considering its components ‘single ingredients’.

“One cannot deny that the decomposable nature of
modern architecture results from applying some tech-
nical improvements such as, for instance, the prin-
ciple of the structural skeleton, which, among other
things, provides us with the idea of separation between
structure and building envelopment. But the technical
aspects solely do not fully account for this phenome-
non. The given decomposability occurs along with a
more general cultural transformation: it corresponds
to the epistemological rupture which goes along with
the birth of modern culture (...) directly bound up in
the emergence of the analytical and abstract thinking
that allows the dissecting of the object and isolating its
components. (...) Those components separate and be-
come abstract: but what was first decomposed must,
then, be recomposed. And the result of that re-com-
position will no longer be the monolithic object, the
inextricable amalgam. The components will not merge
into a magmatic mass, they will rather articulate with a
new whole which allows us to recognise the analytical
nature of the procedure.”®

Regarding this you should consider not only all the
architecture by the Dutch De Stjjl, but also the work of
those to whom decomposability has been a way of indi-
vidualising the load-bearing structure as an autonomous
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and form organising element (for instance, Le Corbusier
and Mies van der Rohe) — particularly relevant, in this
case, as possible comparison, Mies van der Rohe’s Con-
crete Office Building (1922); see Tavora’s Casa sobre o
mar/House over the sea (1952) and the way the struc-
ture that supports it is clearly individualised.® In Tavora’s
case, such decomposability aims to make intelligible the
relationships between the various elements as part of an
“organised form”. Those relationships are reflected in the
way the building applies the program in the site.

3

If there is an explicit goal behind the Market of Vila da
Feira it is, according to the author, to build a public place,
“not only a place for exchanging things but also ideas, an
invitation for people to meet"™°.

Tavora was confronted with a difficult plot. We are
talking about an urban situation which, apparently, does
not include any of the reasons that usually potentiate the
placement of a market.

“The market square — as correctly observed by Jaume
Sanmarti — does not present itself, in this particular case,
as the archetypical locus mercati, a historically consoli-
dated urban space which acts like a natural meeting point
coinciding with a crossover/intersection, the access to a
bridge, the main square in a village or anything of the
sort. (...) Here, the location is somewhat artificial, it has
been attributed an absolutely vulgar plot, with no particu-
lar meaning.”

In Portugal, it is quite common to find squares which
are tangential to pathways, presenting themselves as ad-
joining public spaces, close to roads. Tavora is going to
try to give back the plot’s interior to the public space by
promoting the ‘insertion” within town of a place both lim-
ited and permeable: an ‘inner field’, ‘included’ into a resi-
dential area of single family houses, stabilised through the
centralised layout of the pavilions and open as continui-
ty of the street. We use ‘field’ (instead of ‘square’ which
implies a public void shaped by a set of building fronts)

as heir of those compounds, outside the medieval walls,
next to a door, in which markets took place (and which,
in many cases, have been integrated into the urban fabric
after the town’s growth beyond its limits) “(..) a Im x
1m square grid (...) allows an easy measurement when it
comes to determine the plot’s rental fee.”*?

The granite base facing the street allows the upper
platform to stand out, by involving the central space with
the fountain from three sides. It also allows us to keep the
existing or projected constructions aligned and recede the
east-side pavilion, creating a middle zone between the
sidewalk and the selling area. This recess, as well as two
entrances at the opposite sides of the plot, acting simul-
taneously as viewpoints or vanishing points towards the
exterior, announce the location of the Market inside the
residential area. The town and the surrounding landscape
are present inside the compound; the upper platform pro-
vides an especially beautiful view over the slope and the
Castle; by the framework of the construction you could
see the Convent of Léios from the east.

By approaching the construction of the public space
within the modern city, Carlos Marti suggests that the
Greek agora and the Roman forum are still referenc-
es which, having embodied variables and crossovers
throughout the years, constitute a possible starting point
to the understanding of how architecture re-elaborates the
greatest themes of cities history even today.

“The agora as an urban space has its origins in the
reciprocal relationships between several elements or
autonomous parts which adopt, each and single one of
them, their own strategy of insertion. Various pieces of
architecture, at the agora, come to establish among them
a complex grid of visual relationships, even if that does
not mean they have to submit to a single geometrical dis-
cipline or subdue their specificities to the project’s overall
rules. The agora defines, then, an open structure, with
no clear boundaries, which embodies, like any other ele-
ment, the surrounding landscape and establishes an in-
tense dialogue with nature. On the other hand, the forum
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Fig. 10 Fernando Tévora,
Municipal Market of Vila da Feira
(1953-59); view of the Castle
from the upper platform (photo
taken by the author).

Fig. 11 Fernando Tavora,
Municipal Market of Vila da Feira
(1953-59); view of the Convent
of Léios from the upper platform
© FIMS.

presents itself as a limited compound, in which the archi-
tectonic elements juxtapose and bring themselves togeth-
er, losing part of their relative autonomy in order to form
an artificial, continuous scenario, looking inwards, which
assumes the representation of the urban as something
‘interior’ clearly separated from the field and the “exteri-
or” landscape. (...) Even if it is a fact that the agora tra-
dition remains pretty much alive in many examples in the
post-Hellenistic world (let us, for instance, consider the
amazing placement of Pisa’s Cathedral and its surround-
ing volumes, known as Campo dei Miracoli), there is no
doubt that the model represented by the forum, charac-
terised by space cohesion and architectural uniformity,
prevails in following stages of the eastern urban history
(whether it is the French Place Royale or the Spanish
Plaza Mayor, or any other variant), where it acquires a
canonical shape which is still considerably hegemonic."'3

The agora might have allowed the Modern Movement
to resume the construction of the public space as ‘plu-
ral unity’ while in an ‘open’ relationship with nature and
the city. This option ought to have included a polemic
confrontation with some aspects of the 18th century city
— mainly with the impoverishment of the morphological
research — within which ‘decorum’, progressively seen
in a more limited and unilateral sense, that is to say, as
fagade composition, seems to summarise the essential of
the urban project.

Even if it is possible to recognise the agora in the di-
versity and malleability with which the pavilions adjust to
the compound, in the opening of perspectives towards
the exterior, in the orchestrated presence not only of the
urban surroundings but also of the topographical and ge-
ographical elements of the place, the inner, centralised
space clearly reminds us of the forum, especially the kind
of space that, due to an assiduous and continuous pres-